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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Financial Summary B 5 WE

. Revenue amounted to approximately RMB94,495 million, an increase of o &I A A ARKI4 495FHET - +FH
approximately 4.0%. #14.0% -

. Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent amountedto o BEBREBRARKRENZFINENAEARE

i —

approximately RMB4,680 million, a decrease of approximately 11.5%. 4,680E BT * WMAHIN1.5% o

. Basic earnings per share was approximately RMBO0.59, a decrease of o HREXEFNLAEARK059T W4
approximately 11.5%. 11.5% °

(Important notice: This report is published in Chinese and English versions. In case of  (EEIRF @ ARE D RIAPEFIH o 0P EXHE
inconsistency, the Chinese version shall prevail.) fAIZR - BARRAE )
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the reviewed interim results of
the Company for the six months’ period ended 30 June 2020.

L.

Review of Operating Conditions

In the first half of 2020, facing the severe challenges brought by
the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19"), coupled with
the complicated and ever-changing environment domestically and
abroad, the Chinese government has implemented various measures
to prevent and control the spread of COVID-19 and facilitate economic
developments. China has been achieving impressive strategic results in
containing COVID-19, leading to a steady recovery in the economy. In
the first half of the year, the gross domestic product reached RMB45.7
trillion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 1.6%. From a quarterly
perspective, the gross domestic product decreased by 6.8% in the first
quarter and grew by 3.2% in the second quarter compared to the
corresponding periods last year.

During the Period, the Company implemented precise strategies and
scientific planning to overcome the adverse impacts brought by COVID-19
and to seize the opportunity of economic recovery, leading to a growth in
domestic operation, rapid growth in new business formats and increase

BRRR -
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

in the number of orders of the intelligent logistics business despite the
adversity, all of which highlighted the strength of our diversified business
structure and significantly enhanced our risk resistance capabilities.
In the first half of the year, the Company’s revenue increased by
approximately 4.0% compared with that in the corresponding period
of 2019 to approximately RMB94,495 million. Net profit attributable to
shareholders of the listed company was approximately R\MB4,680 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 11.5% compared with that in
the corresponding period of 2019. Basic earnings per share was RMB0.59,
representing a decrease of approximately 11.5% compared with that in
the corresponding period of 2019.

1. Power System Business

The Company upheld an innovation-driven approach and
accelerated the escalation of products mix to high-end. To create
a new generation high-end platform “N+H+M", sales amount of
new products such as WP3N, WP8 and WP10H increased rapidly;
we have completed the upgrade and development of the full series
of road-going China VI and non-road-going China IV products to
firmly secure our leading position amidst the new round of emission
standards upgrade, and achieved simultaneous growth in both
traditional products and emerging strategic products. Leveraging
the globally coordinated research and development (R&D) platform,
we made strenuous efforts in achieving breakthroughs in core
technologies, and our product competitiveness was significantly
strengthened by continuously optimising engines and performance
strengths of parts and components, lowering costs and fuel
consumption and light-weighting. The Company adhered to the
customer-oriented approach and focused precisely on various
segment markets. We achieved all-round breakthroughs in strategic
markets such as energy and electric power, industrial equipment
and excavators, and continuously developed advantageous markets
such as heavy-duty trucks, passenger vehicles and construction
machineries to strengthen our competitive advantages in the
industry. The Company was committed to creating synergy by
combining its resources and speeding up the integration of the
industrial chain. With engines as our principal axis, the Company
achieved rapid breakthroughs in core technology of three major
powertrain systems, namely, commercial vehicles, construction
machineries and agricultural equipment, and took full advantage of
systematic matching of its products, thereby creating competitive
advantage of differentiation. The wholesale market testing phase
for the second generation of AMT powertrain products has been
completed, and “WP6H+Linde Hydraulics” powertrain became the
first domestic self-developed powertrain solution for excavators.

o ()
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued) F (AR

During the Period, the Company’s powertrain business hit another
record high. Sales volume of engines increased year-on-year by
19.2% to 470,000 units; sales volume of gear boxes increased
year-on-year by 4.0% to 605,000; sales volume of axles increased
year-on-year by 16.5% to 534,000. In addition, our strategic high-
end products continued to develop, with sales revenue of large-
diameter engines of RMB420 million, representing a year-on-year
growth of 30.4%; and sales revenue of high-end hydraulic products
of RMB230 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 30.3%.

Complete Vehicles and Machineries Business
Upholding a strategy driven by complete vehicles and machineries,
the Company sped up the innovation-driven strategy and industrial
chain structural upgrade, and further enhanced its comprehensive
competitiveness. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (P&
FEAREAFRAF]), a controlling subsidiary, made efforts in
production and operation, market breakthrough and products
innovation, and achieved stable growth with a total heavy-duty
trucks sales of 88,000 units, representing a year-on-year growth of
2.1%. We seized the market share with full understanding of the
needs of the industry. In the tractor economic market, port tractor
market, and sand and gravel transportation market, we continued
to rank the top. We overcame the impact of COVID-19 overseas
effectively and recorded a year-on-year growth in cooperative
export as well as a rapid expansion in high-end markets such as
Central and South America and the Asia-Pacific. By effectively
combining innovation chain and industrial chain, we gained a
leading advantage. We accelerated the exploration of effective
combination of management of customers’ demand with the
internet throughout the life cycle of trucks, and introduced
innovative models of cooperation with major customers and
platform customers on an ongoing basis, proactively forming a new
business format. Following the completion of the development
of model M3000S vehicles and technological reserves of model
M5000 vehicles and further upgrade of complete vehicles in terms
of smoothness and braking performance, the core performance
indicators of our new-generation products led the industry.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Intelligent Logistics Business
KION Group AG (“KION"), an overseas controlling subsidiary,
is a globally leading supplier in the area of intralogistics which

assists factories, warehouses and distribution centres to optimise
their resources flow and information flow through the design,
establishment and improvement of logistics solutions in over a
hundred countries and regions around the world. Dematic Group
is a globally leading automated logistics expert, with its products
meeting the comprehensive needs in areas of intelligent supply
chain and automated solutions. Under the influence of COVID-19,
sales revenue of the intelligent logistics segment was EUR3.93
billion in the first half of 2020, representing a decrease of 10.0%
as compared to the corresponding period last year. Nevertheless,
total order value amounted to EUR4.40 billion, representing an
increase of 4.8% as compared to the corresponding period last
year. In particular, order value of supply chain solutions amounted
to EUR1.74 billion, representing an increase of 57.3% as compared
to the corresponding period last year.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

II.

4. New Business Format, New Energy and New

Technology

Guided by future-oriented strategies, the Company actively
facilitated the promotion of re-engineering of industrial chain and
upgrade of value chain as well as new business format, new energy
and new technology. The Company focused on key technologies to
take lead in the development of the industry. Strategic restructure
of Germany-based ARADEX AG and Austria-based VDS allowed the
Company to effectively overcome the weakness in key technologies
of motor control system of new energy powertrain and CVT power
system in agricultural equipment in China. The Company established
the world’s largest manufacturing base of engines powered by
hydrogen-fueled batteries, and the production line with production
capacity of 20,000 units/sets of fuel-battery powered engines
and stack has commenced formal operation. With the support
of the new generation of information technology, the Company
sped up the pace of digital transformation. With customers as the
centre and digital technology as the medium, the Company served
and empowered our business and sped up the pace of digital
transformation. We accelerated the construction of Concentric
Cloud and provided uniform infrastructure facilities of cloud-based
information services to respond to business needs quickly. We
have been continuously optimising our supply chain business and
empowering upstream and downstream suppliers and customers,
so as to achieve highly-efficient synergy in the industry chain and
enhance the consistency in product quality.

Dividends and Capitalisation of Reserve

On 29 June 2020, the Company’s 2019 profit distribution proposal
was considered and approved at the Company’s 2019 annual general
meeting. Based on the 7,933,873,895 shares eligible for distribution
as at 31 December 2019, the Company distributed to all shareholders
a cash dividend of RMB1.36 (including tax) for every 10 shares held,
without any capitalisation of reserve.

On 27 August 2020, under the authority granted by the shareholders
of the Company, the Board considered and approved the distribution to
all shareholders of a cash dividend of RMB1.50 (including tax) for every

3
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

I1I.

10 shares held, based on the total number of shares of the Company of
7,933,873,895 shares, without any capitalisation of reserve. Please refer
to the further announcement issued by the Company for details on the
closure of registers of members in determining the shareholders who are
eligible for the 2020 interim dividend.

Development Outlook and Prospects

Looking to the second half of 2020, under the impact of COVID-19
outbreak around the globe, uncertainties arise due to the hindered
industry and supply chain cycles, shrinking international trading and
investment, and severely restricted export, resulting in severe global
economic downturn. Considering both domestic and international
situation, it is generally believed that the economy of China in the
second half of 2020 will still have to face a greater downward
pressure. Nevertheless, with the impact of a new “dual circulation”
development model comprising both new and traditional infrastructure
projects, greater effort in environmental governance, more stringent
policies against overloading as well as acceleration of elimination and
replacement of China Ill trucks, it is estimated that there is still a large
room for growth in the industry, which will bring opportunities for
the high-quality development of the Company’s domestic business.
Meanwhile, as automated logistics becomes a new trend and market
demands for forklift trucks recovered, the Company’s intelligent logistics
business is expected to see a restorative growth.

By adhering to the principle of aiming at customer satisfaction, focusing
on segment markets, speeding up the pace of technology innovation
and optimising the operating eco-system, the Company is determined to
accomplish its full-year goals.

Focusing on the sales target of million units of engines, the Company
will seize opportunities in market expansion. Adhering to the customer
demand-oriented approach, the Company will seize the development
opportunity in the post-pandemic era, make great efforts to improve
product offerings, steadfastly capture the market and secure the orders.
We will focus on road-going and non-road-going segment markets
and the development pattern of the industry, make a good planning of
products for the “14th Five-Year Plan” and build a precise and scientific
product structure. Leveraging the terminal digital analysis platform,
we will conduct data-mining analysis of the growing markets and key
markets, push ahead with the enhancement of marketing capability
during all processes, along the entire value chain and throughout the
lifecycle, with an aim to develop key customers and products and
achieve breakthroughs in segment markets precisely. The Company
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

IV.

will continue the innovation-driven approach, and speed up the
transformation and upgrade of products. Through coordinating global
R&D resources, and optimising a new four-in-one innovation system
consisting of “self-developed innovation+ open innovation+ professional
innovation+ basic-research innovation”, the Company will expedite the
construction of a new energy complete vehicle platform and a power
system platform in order to bring highly-efficient synergy in the new
energy business. We will speed up our efforts in achieving breakthroughs
in key technologies of high-end hydraulic pumps and motor, and
advanced hydraulic powertrain control in order to systematically upgrade
the performance of our products. We will also optimise a forward
engineering process for automatic electric control system, accelerate
research on common key technologies of engine electric control, new
energy electric control, powertrain electric control and smart network,
to develop products with our own self-developed core technologies
and market competitiveness. Furthermore, we will strengthen the R&D,
production and supply of core components including fuel system,
pressure charging system and post-processing system while maintaining
the stability of the supply chain. We will step up on constructing an
eco-system for innovation and achieve a new height in business and
entrepreneurship. On the basis of new landscape, new technologies and
new demands, the Company will strive to do our best in the top-level
design for the management of an innovation eco-system and enhance
the integration of industry-university-research innovation chain to build
a pool for innovative resources. We will step up the organisational
reform of the R&D system and establish a multi-level incentive system
with results-sharing and upfront incentives to encourage innovation.
We will strengthen the talent-pool building, create innovative culture
and atmosphere, introduce high-level talents domestically and abroad to
build a team of international talents with a reasonable mix of different
age groups and a scientific medium-to-high level hierarchy. We will also
improve the honour system for employees to achieve mutual growth
and development of our employees and of the Company, thereby fully
enhancing the core competitiveness of the Company.

Appreciation

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere appreciation to
all our shareholders, the general public and our customers for their
care and support, as well as to all of our staff for their hard work and
dedication!

Tan Xuguang

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 August 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Directors are pleased to present a management discussion and analysis of
the results of operations of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2020

(the “Period”) as follows:

I. Industry Analysis
The Company is one of the vehicle and equipment manufacturing
conglomerates in the PRC with the best comprehensive strengths. It is
a leading company in the markets of powertrain, complete vehicles and
machines, hydraulic controlling parts and automotive electronics and parts
and components and is equipped with the most comprehensive supply
chain of engines, gear boxes and axles, and offers related aftersales
market services. Meanwhile, with the Group's leading advantages in
intelligent logistics, it could provide the most comprehensive logistics

solutions to its customers.

1. Commercial Vehicles and Construction
Machinery Industries
In the first half of 2020, facing the severe situation of the COVID-19
pandemic, the industry and supply chain cycles have been
significantly affected, and international trading has been shrinking,
resulting in an unprecedented hit on the global economy. The
Chinese government implemented effective measures to prevent
and control the spread of COVID-19 and to resume economic
development. With the rapid resumption of operation and
production, the domestic economic growth turned from negative
to positive in the second quarter, indicating a steady recovery in the
economy. In the first half of the year, the gross domestic product
of the PRC reached RMB45.7 trillion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 1.6%. From a quarterly perspective, the gross domestic
product decreased by 6.8% in the first quarter and grew by 3.2%
in the second quarter compared to the corresponding periods last

year.

Benefitting from the favourable factors such as continuous progress
made in containing COVID-19, there have been signs of recovery
in the domestic economy. Affected by factors including the
advancement of fixed assets investment and new infrastructure
projects, upgrade of emission standards and rising demand
for vehicle replacement, the domestic commercial vehicles and

construction machinery industries operated at a high level.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

2. Forklift Truck and Supply Chain Solutions
Industry
During the Period, the International Monetary Fund estimated a
contraction of approximately 4.9% in global economy in the year
2020 due to the restrictive measures implemented by countries in
response to COVID-19, which also caused a direct impact on the
demand for industrial forklift trucks. Orders for industrial forklift
trucks in the first half of 2020 decreased to approximately 706,400
units from approximately 759,500 units in the same period last
year, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 7.0%.
In particular, Central and South America, Middle East and Africa,
West Europe and East Europe saw a relatively significant drop of
approximately 20.7%, 18.9%, 16.9% and 12.9%, respectively,
as compared with the corresponding period last year, while Asia
Pacific was the only region which recorded a slight growth. The
supply chain solutions industry was affected by the global economic

downturn, resulting in weak investment market sentiment.

II. The Group’s Business
An analysis of the Group’s business segments is set out in Note XIV.2 to
the consolidated financial statements. The following is an overview of the

operating conditions of the major products of the Group:

1. Powertrain, Complete Vehicles and Machines
and Key Components
The Group has the most comprehensive powertrain system
covering engines, gear boxes and axles. With the advantages of
the globally coordinated R&D platform, the Company enhanced
its core technologies and capitalised on the synergistic effect of
the industry chain. In the first half of 2020, the Company sold a
total of approximately 470,000 units of engines and approximately
605,000 units of gear boxes, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 19.2% and approximately 4.0% as compared
with approximately 394,000 units and approximately 582,000 units,
respectively, in the corresponding period last year. The engines
segment contributed approximately RMB22,372 million to the
Group's sales revenue during the Period, representing an increase
of approximately 18.0% from approximately RMB 18,963 million for

the corresponding period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) B B e B AT (%)

During the Period, Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited
(BRPEEAFE B R A F]), a controlling subsidiary of the Group,
effectively mitigated the impacts of COVID-19, took advantage
of the economic recovery, and seized the market share with full
understanding of the needs of the industry. During the Period, the
Group's aggregate sales of heavy-duty truck engines amounted to
approximately 88,000 units, representing a year-on-year growth of

approximately 2.1%.

Intelligent Logistics

During the Period, the industrial forklift trucks key markets of the
Group were severely affected by the COVID-19 outbreak. Sales
order for forklift trucks decreased from approximately 109,000 units
in the corresponding period last year to approximately 89,000 units,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 18.5%. The
total value of order intake for the first half of the year decreased
by approximately 13.9% to EUR2,655 million, and the total value
of order intake of supply chain solutions recorded a year-on-year
increase of approximately 57.3% to EUR1,744 million due to big-
ticket orders received from e-commerce customers. Intelligent
logistics services contributed approximately RMB30,082 million to
the Group’s sales revenue during the Period, representing a year-

on-year decrease of approximately 8.2%.

III. Financial Review

The Group's Results of Operations

a. Revenue
In the first half of 2020, the Group’s revenue amounted to
approximately RMB94,495 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB3,633 million or approximately 4.0%
from approximately RMB90,862 million in the corresponding
period in 2019. Largely benefitting from the effective
prevention and control against the spread of COVID-19
across the country, there have been signs of gradual recovery
of the economy. With favourable government policies, the
domestic commercial vehicles and construction machinery
industries maintained positive growth and revenue from
the provision of intelligent logistics supply chain solutions
remained stable. Revenue from principal operations increased
by approximately 2.2% from approximately RMB89,130
million in the corresponding period last year to approximately
RMB91,070 million for the Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Profit from Principal Operations

During the Period, the Group generated profit from principal
operations in the amount of approximately RMB18,231
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB1,335
million or 6.8% from approximately RMB19,566 million
recorded in the corresponding period in 2019. This was
mainly attributable to the restrictive measures adopted by
various countries in Europe and the United States to control
the spread of COVID-19 which led to a decrease in the
revenue from intelligent logistics business. The Group strictly
controlled the costs during the Period to maintain a stable
profit margin from principal operations at approximately
20.0%.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

During the Period, the distribution and selling expenses
amounted to approximately RMB5,313 million, representing
a decrease of approximately RMB57 million or 1.1% from
approximately RMB5,370 million in the corresponding period
of 2019. The decrease of distribution and selling expenses
was primarily attributable to a decrease in both the after-sales
and repair fees and the costs of freight and packaging. With
the effective control over the total expenses, the distribution
and selling expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased
to approximately 5.6% during the Period from approximately

5.9% during the corresponding period last year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by
approximately RMB116 million or 3.5% from approximately
RMB3,281 million in the corresponding period of 2019 to
approximately RMB3,397 million in the Period. During the
Period, the overall expenses were under effective control.
The general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of revenue was maintained at the same level as in the

corresponding period last year at approximately 3.6%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) BRI o B AT (A

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT)

During the Period, the Group’s EBIT was approximately
RMB7,293 million, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB1,655 million or 18.5% from approximately RMB8,948
million in the corresponding period last year. The decrease in
EBIT was primarily attributable to the influence of COVID-19,
leading to a decrease in the profit contributed by the
intelligent logistics business during the Period. However,
the Group maintained an optimistic outlook for the future
prospects and increased its investment in research and
development, bringing down EBIT margin of the Group from
approximately 9.8% in the corresponding period of 2019 to
approximately 7.7% in the Period.

Finance Expenses

Finance expenses increased by approximately 17.6%
to approximately RMB166 million in the Period from
approximately RMB141 million in the corresponding period
of 2019. This was mainly attributable to exchange gains and

losses and the increase in handling fees on bank loans.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses decreased by 31.2% from
approximately RMB1,458 million in the corresponding period
in 2019 to approximately RMB1,003 million in the Period,
which was mainly attributable to the decrease in offshore
profits. During the Period, the Group's average effective tax
rate was at approximately 15.0%, representing a decrease
of 2.5 percentage points from approximately 17.5% in the

corresponding period last year.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group’s net profit for the Period was approximately
RMB5,702 million, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB1,191 million or 17.3% from approximately RMB6,893
million in the corresponding period of last year. Net profit
margin for the Period was approximately 6.0%, which
decreased by 1.6 percentage points from approximately 7.6%
in the corresponding period of last year. This was primarily
attributable to the influence of COVID-19 on the revenue
from the intelligent logistics business, the decrease in profit
contribution and the increase in research and development

expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the Period, the Group generated net operating cash
flows of approximately RMB4,036 million and cash inflow
from financing activities of approximately RMB18,912
million. A portion of such proceeds was applied to repaying
debts, acquiring 100% equity interest in Digital Applications
International Limited (total consideration amounting to
approximately EUR110 million) and paying for the acquisition
of property, plant and equipment for the expansion of
the Group’s business. As of 30 June 2020, the Group’'s
gearing ratio (interest-bearing debts/(interest-bearing debts

+ shareholders’ equity)) was approximately 30.5% (31

December 2019: approximately 29.9%).

2. Financial Position
a. Assets and Liabilities

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had total assets
of approximately RMB260,978 million, of which
approximately RMB145,162 million were current
assets. As at 30 June 2020, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of approximately RMB45,769 million
(as at 31 December 2019: approximately RMB48,818
million). On the same date, the Group’s total liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB186,919 million, of
which approximately RMB123,926 million were current

liabilities. The current ratio was approximately 1.17x (as

at 31 December 2019: 1.20x).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) B B e B AT (%)

Capital Structure

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB74,059 million, of which approximately
RMB48,707 million was attributable to equity holders
of the Company and the balance was minority interests.
Interest attributable to minority interest holders included
the perpetual capital securities in the principal amount of
US$775 million issued in September 2017. The borrowings
of the Group as at 30 June 2020 amounted to approximately
RMB32,506 million, which included bonds of approximately
RMB 13,331 million and bank borrowings of approximately
RMB19,175 million. The bank borrowings included
approximately RMB4,977 million of fixed interest rate bank
borrowings and approximately RMB 14,198 million of floating
interest rate bank borrowings. Borrowings repayable on
demand or within a period not exceeding one year were
approximately RMB8,882 million; borrowings repayable
within a period of more than one year but not exceeding
two years were approximately RMB3,052 million; borrowings
repayable within a period of more than two years but not
exceeding five years were approximately RMB6,668 million;
and borrowings repayable within a period of more than five
years were approximately RMB573 million. Other than Euro
denominated borrowings, USD-denominated borrowings and
GBP-denominated borrowings equivalent to approximately
RMB 14,057 million, RMB1,635 million and RMB242 million
respectively, the borrowings are Renminbi-denominated
borrowings. The revenue of the Group is mainly in Renminbi
and Euro. To prevent exchange rate risk arising from the
fluctuation of the USD exchange rate, contracts have been
entered into with financial institutions to swap the USD400
million USD-denominated bonds issued in September 2015
and the USD775 million USD-denominated perpetual capital
securities issued in September 2017 to Euro, and thus the
Group does not consider the currency risk facing its future
general cash outflow significant. As a policy, the Group
manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debts
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Pledge of Assets

As at 30 June 2020, cash and cash equivalents, notes
receivable, receivable financing and accounts receivable
of approximately RMB20,915 million (as at 31 December
2019: RMB22,897 million) were pledged to banks to secure
the Group’s notes payable, letter of guarantee and letter of
credit, etc. issued by banks. The pledged bank deposits carry
prevailing bank interest rates. The pledge will be released
upon the settlement of the relevant bank borrowings. The
fair value of the bank deposits as at the balance sheet date
was approximately the same as the carrying amount. Certain
other assets were also pledged by the Group to secure the

Group's borrowings.

Contingencies

As at 30 June 2020, the Group provided certain distributors
and agents bank guarantee amounting to approximately
RMB3,853 million (as at 31 December 2019: approximately
RMB2,643 million) to secure their obtaining and use of

banking facilities.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group provided guarantee for joint
liabilities in respect of failure of the leasee under finance lease
to settle instalment payments plus interest. Risk exposure in
respect of possible guarantee for joint liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB3,377 million (as at 31 December 2019:
approximately RMB2,734 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Commitments

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately RMB3,369 million (as at 31 December 2019:
approximately RMB3,088 million), principally for the capital

A EIE

RZTZZTFA=+H =K
EEBEMNEREFNARYE
3369 B ETM(R =T —NF

expenditure in respect of acquisition of property, plant and +-A=1+—8H: : HARE
equipment. The capital expenditure will be financed by 3,088E&L) FERZEEY
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i o
3. Other Financial Information 3. HitBIBER
a. Employees 3

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had approximately 82,900
employees (including approximately 35,600 employees of
KION). During the Period, the Group had paid remuneration
of approximately RMB13,292 million. The emolument policy
of the employees of the Group is set up by the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)

on the basis of their merits, qualifications and competence.

Maijor Investment, Acquisition and Disposal
The Group did not have any major investment, acquisition or

disposal during the Period.

Subsequent Events

On 27 August 2020, under the authority granted by the
shareholders of the Company, the Board considered and
approved the distribution to all shareholders of cash dividend
of RMB1.50 (including tax) for every 10 shares held, based on
the total number of shares of the Company of 7,933,873,895

shares, without any capitalisation of reserve.
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Auditors” Review Report

Deloitte

Deloitte Shi Bao (Yue) Zi (20) No. R00052
To the Shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.:

We have reviewed the accompanying interim financial statements of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd. ("Weichai Power”) which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 30 June 2020, the consolidated and company
income statements, consolidated and company statement of changes in equity
and consolidated and company cash flow statement for the period from 1
January to 30 June 2020 and notes to the financial statements (“interim financial
statements”). The management of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. is responsible for the
preparation of these interim financial statements. Our responsibility is to issue
our review report on these interim financial statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with the Review Standard for Chinese
Certified Public Accountants No. 2101 Review of Financial Statements. The
standard requires us to plan and conduct a review to obtain limited assurance as
to whether the interim financial statements are free from material misstatement.
A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and performing
analytical procedures on the data. A review provides less assurance than an
audit. We have not performed an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the interim financial statements are not prepared in accordance
with the requirement in Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises — No. 32
Interim Financial Reporting in any material respect, or do not fairly reflect the
consolidated and company financial position of Weichai Power as at 30 June
2020 and the consolidated and company operating results and consolidated and
company cash flow of Weichai Power for the period from 1 January to 30 June
2020 in any material respect.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
Shanghai, PRC

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Xie Yanfeng

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Wang Lixin

27 August 2020
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24 \Neichai Power Co., Ltd.  #SeE HIRDAR AT

Consolidated Balance Sheet

30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

aHEER

[tem Note V

EH MR

Current assets mENEE
Cash and cash equivalents B¥®ES 1
Financial assets held for trading R MEE 2
Notes receivable FE W AR 3
Accounts receivable JFE W BR R 4
Receivable financing FE WO I Bl & 5
Prepayments TETFRIE 6
Other receivables H th & U R 7
Inventories EASY 8
Contract assets EREE 9
Assets held for sale REREEE
Non-current assets due within one year —FRNEEMIETRBEE 10
Other current assets Himeh&EeE 11

Total current assets MEEESET

Non-current assets EMEBEE
Long-term receivables £ B FE R 12
Long-term equity investments REIRERE 13
Investment in other equity instruments HivigEzm TRKE 14
Other non-current financial assets HindERmB & E 15
Investment property HEEEHE 16
Fixed assets EEEE 17
Construction in progress EEIR 18
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19
Intangible assets EREE 20
Development expenditure R H 21
Goodwill GRS 22
Long-term prepaid expenses REGHER 23
Deferred tax assets RIEFTISEE
Other non-current assets HinIEns & E 24

Total non-current assets FERBEEST

Total assets

BERF

30 June 2020
202056 A30H

45,768,528,852.10
9,828,239,349.19
24,914,347,693.33
18,489,989,589.65
10,123,170,313.68
1,497,168,713.45
1,051,983,586.45
27,121,565,052.48
1,433,954,955.40
24,237,289.50
2,908,662,804.00
1,999,656,314.65

145,161,504,513.88

8,934,200,406.00
4,655,222,866.64
2,219,446,189.31
799,120,774.21
524,588,227.30
29,054,957,601.86
4,978,032,002.20
8,465,660,936.47
24,159,013,345.72
52,257,467.22
24,959,309,685.61
298,496,123.89
6,121,565,021.33
594,282,413.03

115,816,153,060.79

260,977,657,574.67

H R

202096 HA30H (A RB#T)

31 December 2019
2019412 A31H

48,817,622,206.26
4,451,059,463.07
15,920,141,988.31
14,285,262,297.09
10,537,909,983.71
996,710,182.20
681,601,186.05
24,717,700,810.03
1,174,036,594.50
24,237,289.50
2,658,043,734.50
1,920,759,332.58

126,185,085,067.80

8,447,617,640.00
4,711,144,533.01
2,103,129,675.18
636,502,629.08
537,298,133.13
26,318,667,724.94
5,408,666,017.06
9,109,528,185.30
23,435,580,132.59
139,500,519.38
23,822,520,317.99
254,367,462.55
5,034,346,014.96
687,720,493.20

110,646,589,478.37

236,831,674,546.17




Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)

30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

ltem
B H

Note V
{hEEal

Interim Report 2020 FH#isRsE 25

A EEAMRE (H)

202096 308 (A E#T)

30 June 2020
20206 A30H

25 5,343,021,199.19
26 100,032,983.46
27 18,418,671,023.25
28 45,693,992,410.06
29 14,372,968,816.29
30 5,212,592,567.82
31 3,025,221,176.48
32 8,786,003,912.52
33 13,845,295,365.10
34 9,128,329,173.06

123,926,128,627.23

35 10,293,702,983.83
36 10,500,328,131.06
37 8,165,071,486.35
38 5,758,723,302.94
39 12,727,823,351.82
40 297,994,531.42
41 4,506,981,930.86

5,548,439,722.75
42 5,193,926,584.04

Current liabilities mEBE
Short-term loans REHEIER
Financial liabilities held for trading RBEEMEE
Notes payable FE &
Accounts payable FE T BR R
Contract liabilities ER&E
Payroll payable JE A<F 58 5 B
Taxes payable R B
Other payables H M fE 3R
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FREHNIERDEE
Other current liabilities HimghaE

Total current liabilities mBAESS

Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term borrowings REMER
Bonds payable ERES
Lease liabilities HEBRE
Long-term payables REAET AR
Long-term payroll payable = B e A< B T 357 B
Accruals and provisions TEEtAE
Deferred income IR Y e
Deferred tax liabilities BEFRGRAE
Other non-current liabilities HinIEnsasE

Total non-current liabilities FRBDEEES

62,992,992,025.07

Total liabilities

BEAG

186,919,120,652.30

31 December 2019
2019412 A831H

2,014,692,401.39
131,920,754.38
22,446,404,536.58
36,748,503,682.85
10,654,453,360.19
5,588,996,060.47
2,064,584,764.70
6,511,002,642.85
12,998,360,887.57
6,717,853,612.80

105,876,772,703.78

11,373,657,990.58
10,295,279,995.18
8,943,580,095.61
4,658,205,937.06
11,667,005,084.73
315,667,957.84
4,608,566,796.01
5,406,314,269.55
3,911,898,285.35

61,180,176,411.91

167,056,949,115.69
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)
30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

AHEEAMER ()
202096 HA30H (A RB#T)

Note V 30 June 2020 31 December 2019
MsER 202056 H30H 2019512 A31H

[tem

EH

Shareholders’ equity AR R
Share capital & 2
Capital reserve BARNIE
Other comprehensive income HiiRa e
Special reserve BIEGFE
Surplus reserve g YN
Retained earnings Ko B F

43 7,933,873,895.00 7,933,873,895.00
44 118,432,762.35 118,896,726.65
45 (GO ERPEPAEN S (1,278,030,636.58)
46 216,213,776.56 193,099,471.45
47 973,728,220.76 973,728,220.76
48 CORZYN RV 37,282,373,385.43

Total equity attributable to the shareholders of (B AE R FIRE S

CEWAVER TN ERS 45,223,941,062.71
49 VETEN WL Rt 24,550,784,367.77

VENVSHLISESRPPICYAN 69,774,725,430.48

the parent ot
Minority interests DB AT B RE RS
Total shareholders’ equity B ERS A s
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMEEE S

VLYYV YLV 236,831,674,546.17

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 24 to 283 have been signed by:

Legal representative: Principal in charge of accounting:
EEREKA FEGHIEEBEA
Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong

E Y5 BEE

B it A BA A 3R R A ALK R 2

FLABEEFE283E MM BIREA THNATEASF
£ :

Head of accounting department:

BEIRBEEA

Li Xia
8
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& O HE %

2020F1H1HZ6H30H 15 (A EET)

Consolidated Income Statement

1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Incurred during Incurred in

[tem Note V this period previous period
HH iozahal AEAE AR TH B A
. Revenue — EEWA 50 | eEBREEEETOEERCRS  90,862,496,520.48
Less: Cost of sales R 50 | SeERp e e 71,101,142,453.13
Taxes and surcharges B & 51 432,628,178.50 375,020,413.27
Distribution and selling expenses HEEBH 52 5,312,502,799.91 5,369,736,377.62
General and administrative expenses EEEA 53 3,397,396,172.54 3,281,155,705.90
Research & development expenses WEER 54 2,582,307,532.57 2,397,741,836.26
Finance expenses 5 E A 55 166,195,298.85 141,342,571.21

Incl:  Interest expenses He: FEER 55 587,977,422.15 596,873,003.86
Interest income PSRN 55 619,198,001.23 479,664,629.04

Add: Other income m: EAablas 56 139,144,077.13 90,120,492.57
Investment income BE W= 57 271,836,921.75 372,698,501.34

Incl: investment income from associates Hr - S E A
and joint ventures AL EY

RE W 144,700,622.61 123,724,757.92

Profit or loss on change of fair value NABEEEHER 58 129,675,563.76 25,507,034.78
Impairment loss of credit ERREERK 59 (358,619,232.21) (184,177,256.14)
Impairment loss of assets BEREERXKX 60 (199,053,610.17) (267,253,210.66)

Gain on disposal of assets BEREWS 26,894,701.14 43,971,693.24

Il Operating profit Z EENE 6,623,764,350.48 8,277,224,418.22
Add: Non-operating income s ZEIMRA 61 126,832,763.37 103,809,834.47
Less: Non-operating expenses W BT 62 46,006,159.00 30,391,826.11

lll. Total profit = FHRzE 6,704,590,954.85 8,350,642,426.58
Less: Income tax expenses B TR E R 63 1,002,756,749.99 1,457,822,120.44

IV. Net profit 7 %A E 5,701,834,204.86 6,892,820,306.14

(I) Breakdown by continuity of operations

1. Net profit from continuing operations

(—) BEERHEEHE
1. REEEET

(I) Breakdown by attributable interests
1. Net profit attributable to shareholders
of the parent

2. Minority interests

(=) BB HERBI R
1. FERE QA

P SR 5% I8

2. PERRER

5,701,834,204.86

4,680,231,806.93
1,021,602,397.93

6,892,820,306.14

5,287,488,377.89
1,605,331,928.25
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Consolidated Income Statement (Continued)

HRBORHAERDE

1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

ltem
B H

Note V
MR

A BEFE R ()
2020F1H1HZ6H30H 1B (A EET)

Incurred during

this period
AHAEB AR

V. Net other comprehensive income after tax f

Net other comprehensive income attributable

to shareholders of the parent after tax

(I) Those other comprehensive income not to

be reclassified into profit or loss

1. Changes arising from re-measuring of

defined benefit plan

2. Other comprehensive income not to be

reclassified into profit or loss using the

equity method

3. Change in fair value of investment in other

equity instruments

HibdR & Wi F
55BN & A B IR R 89 H Atb
FERRMTEER
BEoEEBER

2. BRZETT
B E fth 4R

B ®
b
il
il
Bl

3. EMENTARE
AR EERD

(331,312,309.12)

45 (99,048,575.45)

(165,032,896.28)

11,509,465.23

103,773,209.63

(Il Those other comprehensive income to be

reclassified into profit or loss

1. Other comprehensive income to be

reclassified into profit or loss using the

equity method

2. Cashflow hedging reserve

3. Exchange differences on foreign currency

translation

(Z) BESEEERZED
HAibsr & W

AT A EEZRD
HAh#r & Was

2. ReEREEHES
3. INEHIERRITE
EH

2,185,414.02
51,933,276.56

(103,417,044.61)

Net other comprehensive income attributable

to minority interests after tax

FERNDBERNEM
FEWRMBTRIFE

(232,263,733.67)

5,370,521,895.74

4,581,183,231.48

789,338,664.26

VI. Total comprehensive income N irA B
Total comprehensive income attributable to HFENE A RRRD
the shareholders of the parent AW EE
Total comprehensive income attributable to Em% RS R H
minority interests bRe W A EE
VII. Earnings per share + BRI 64

(I) Basic earnings per share

(I) Diluted earnings per share

(—) EXRFRKE
(=) BESRKE

Incurred in
previous period
L HAgE AR

(219,817,816.20)

138,288,663.93

(359,829,984.29)

(104,627.70)

404,196,316.01

(4,361,463.39)
35,466,883.63

62,921,539.67

(358,106,480.13)

6,673,002,489.94

5,425,777,041.82

1,247,225,448.12

0.67
0.67
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity & 1% PROME 4 5 B R

1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2020F 1 A1HZE6A30HIEHFE (AR T)
Incurred during this period
KHREE
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
SENSNARRER
Other
Share Gapital ~ comprehensive Spedial Surplus Retained Minority Total
Item Note capital reserve income reserve reserve earnings Subtotal interests equity
B8 i B EA0R AbASUE EVEH R FARAE Mt SEEREE  RREESH
1. At beginning of period - FEEN4E 7933,873,895.00 1188%6,72665  (1,278,03063658)  193,099471.45 97372822076 3728237338543 A5203941,06271  24,550,784367.77  69,774,72543048
1. Movements n curent priod o REARESEE
() Total comprehensive income () GAhasE (99,048,575.45) 468023180693 458118323148 78933866426 5,370,521,895.74
(I njction and reduction (Z) RREAREO BR
1. Captlinfcton from shareholders 1. RERARL 13380763457 133,887,63457
2. Amountofshare-based payment 2 REKHHA X
taken o owners' equiy ReREnLE - 1,566,518.32 1.566,518.32 191463350 3,481,15182
3. Acquition of minorty inerests n 3 EEFME V4
subsidiaries DERERE il (3,597,542.29) (41,529,369.29) (45,126,911.58) (37,860,471.35) (82.987,388.93)
4, Repurchase and tranfer f s 4 FRAEEREZERR
shares by subsidiaies 1,190,694.41 1,190,694.41 1455,293.17 2,645,987.58
5. Others 5 Ef 376,365.26 376,365.26 46307503 500711549
(1 Proft appropriaion (=) HBoE
1. Disrbution toshareholders 1. HRRHAR vig
148 (1,079,006,849.72)  (1,079,006,849.72) - (1,079,006,849.72)
2. Distrbution to hodersof L HPRAEGERIA
ofher equiy instumentsof KRENAR
subsidiaries (101,776596.36)  (101,776,59.36)
(V) Specialresene (m) 2EGR
1. Appropriaton during the priod 1. KEER Vo
46 4197037873 47971037873 2551398943 13,484,368.16
2. Used durig the piod 1. THpER Vi6
hil) (24.856,073.62) (24.856,073.62) (16,589,752.84) (81,445,826.40)

Il At end of period = FEERAE 193387389500 11843276235  (137707921203) 2621377636 97372822076  A0BA206897335 4870723841599 2535129850638  74,058,536,922.37
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

HRBORHAERDE

1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

o F I ROME 4 58 B R (AR

2020F1H1HZ6H30H 1B (A EET)

Incurred in previous period

LHREE
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
BENSLARRER
Other
Share Captal Less: comprehensive Special Surplus Retained Minority Total
Item Note capital reserve  Treasury shares income reserve reserve earnings Subtotal interests equity
i it i ER0R HOEER  EfESUE BERE BROR FARRE Nt JERREE  BREESH
I, At beginning of period - FHENRE 799723855600 11369943276 49991121721 (1,58400637744)  155,056,854.10 67428339060 3232497519229 3918133583111 22,783,820,73831  61,965,156,569.42
1. Movements n current period RELRRYSE
() Total comprehensive income (-] pehage o S - 13828866393 o - 528748837789 SATTT0418) 124722544812 6,673,002,489.94
(1) Injection and reduction (Z) RRRAHES &R
1. Capital nection from shareholdes 1. RERAEE - - - - - - - - U059 9138057097
2. Amount o share-based payment aken 1 ROEREARE X
foounes equy BANSE 1- - B - - - . SIS 1IN0 26103101
3. Cancelaton f reasry shares 3 EEEENERR
Tepurchased (63364,661.00) - (a99.911,217.21) = - (436,546,556.21) - - - -
4. Others 4 Ef = 227654311 = = = 2 = 2276543.1 218,457 5,058,984.68
(1) Proft appropriztion (=) HEAR
1. Disrbuton toshereholders 1. HRENAR Vg
fil) = = = = = - (L201484,690,60) (2221,484690.60)  (591,306,14830) (2.812790,83890)
2. Distrbution to hlders of other equiy 1 BPhEEbES
insuments of subsires TEREENAR = = > - - - - - (oSN (9965494221
(V) Speci eserve (B)2BEE
1. Agpropriation during the perod 1. ABER Vdb
146 = = = - S50 2 - SSI705172 18,822,88093 13,339,93265
2. Used durig the priod 1 KHER Vg
146 = = = - B1ateA33) = - BoteA33N) (1131263173 (4320907204)
II. Atend of period = AEERNE 193387389500 17,17757982 - (LUSTITTI3SY) ATTESTATIS! 23173683440 3539097887958 4241170694680 23449,226978.72 6586093392552




Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Interim Report 2020 FHEAZRE

/\ 1 v2s Bl
EHBEESRER
2020F1H1HZ6H30H 15 (A EET)

Incurred during Incurred in
[tem Note V this period previous period
EH i AERERE s A
. CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ —  R&EEELH
ReEne
Cash received from sales of goods or rendering HEmMm  REEHE
of services 2R E & 77,144,590,755.47 70,256,466,506.08
Refunds of taxes W B0 5 B R R 154,073,579.79 334,432,136.02
Other cash received relating to operating Y B H A AT E B
activities BEMNRSE 65 703,473,184.51 905,243,651.00
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating activities BESTHIN S RmANET 78,002,137,519.77 71,496,142,293.10
Cash paid for goods and services HERL BEXSH
TRHRE 52,771,668,915.78 44,009,086,409.54
Cash paid to and on behalf of TRGEBIURABT
employees THERE 13,277,623,744.32 13,199,506,398.82
Cash paid for all types of taxes TRHEEHE 3,737,555,657.38 3,986,344,352.81
Other cash paid relating to operating R E i BRLAR R B
activities BHENRE 65 4,179,440,711.52 4,874,759,144.25
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating EEEER S RN At
activities 73,966,289,029.00 66,069,696,305.42
Net cash flows from operating REEEEEM
activities Ren8 ¥R 66 4,035,848,490.77 5,426,445,987 .68
Il. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - REEFHEAHN
Rene
Cash received from sale of investments W EEEWEIHIR S 9,751,992,122.53 7,317,876,585.00
Cash received from return on investments BERE W IR H
Re 100,212,406.78 164,279,265.41
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, REBTEE  EF
intangible assets and other long-term assets BEMEMRBEE
WEEH ¢ 58 42,669,880.12 28,761,295.22
Other cash received relating to investing W B H B2 45 R E)
activities BENERS 330,612,707.58 6,718,716.30

REBDHREMANG
BRETEE BV

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing activities 10,225,487,117.01 7,517,635,861.93

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets,

intangible assets and other long-term assets BEMEMRE
BEXMNHR S 2,965,029,597.87 2,419,040,870.86
Cash paid for acquisition of investments REZAHHAE 15,859,971,710.55 11,317,960,726.11
Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries and BEFARIREMEE

BUX MRS FE 66
REBDDHRE MM /NG

RERBELN
Ren&3H

other business units 803,532,290.74 -

Subtotal of cash outflows from investing activities 19,628,533,599.16 13,737,001,596.97

Net cash flows from investing activities

(9,403,046,482.15)

(6,219,365,735.04)
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HRBORHAERDE

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

EE AR ER ()

2020F1H1HZ6H30H 1B (A EET)

Incurred during

[tem Note V this period
EH fizh RERERE
Il CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES = SEEHELEN
Rene
Cash received from capital contributions WU E W BB & 106,090,633.91
Incl: Cash received by subsidiaries from capital Hep: FREIRKDE
contributions of minority shareholders PR IR & W E
IR 106,090,633.91
Cash received from borrowings HGETKINES 18,686,603,445.21
Other cash received relating to financing W HMmEAEETES
activities FHNRE 119,185,404.24
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing activities EBTHBETRANET 18,911,879,483.36
Cash repayments of borrowings EEEEINNRSE 15,149,868,431.77
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or profits HERF - FEKER
and for interest expenses FEXZRMES 665,844,276.19
Incl: Cash paid to minority shareholders for Hep: FRRIR 4
distribution of dividends or profits by DEIRFEH
subsidiaries BRFI -~ FE 316,220,541.43
Other cash paid relating to financing S EMEEEEE)
activities BFHENRE 65 1,012,757,177.68
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing EEFTHELRM
activities N 16,828,469,885.64
Net cash flows from financing EERHEED
activities RemeFE 2,083,409,597.72
IV.  EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATEON P« [EXR&FHLEIH &
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS kReEENNTE (47,830,401.62)
V. NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND T RekBReEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS % OBl ) 51 (3,331,618,795.28)
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of m: BYReRBeE
period BMaE 42,285,584,925.16
VI.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF N BHRBReRAEE
PERIOD BYshEE 66 38,953,966,129.88

Incurred in
previous period

LEABAR

102,593,389.77

102,593,389.77
15,447,418,433.60

58,956,621.40

15,608,968,444.77

12,840,238,759.74

1,247,867,955.77

926,121,881.02

520,462,094.40

14,608,568,809.91

1,000,399,634.86

33,459,332.68

240,939,220.18

34,379,938,275.41

34,620,877,495.59
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Company Balance Sheet NAEEEAER
30 June 2020 20206 H30H
RMB
AR®T
[tem Note XV 30 June 2020 31 December 2019
A BisE -+ PR ZEN=E 20194612 A31H
Current assets mENEE
Cash and cash equivalents H¥ES® PPAETIS s P G 27,276,378,348.59
Notes receivable FERE R 1 PERVZWEL KL 19,031,065,273.37
Accounts receivable JFE W B R 2 3,483,287,412.94 961,224,481.20
Prepayments CARENE] 252,844,874.59 252,912,459.06
Other receivables H A WK 3 423,142,603.81 495,183,938.26
Inventories TE 2,313,432,530.64 3,442,624,138.43
Other current assets Ht R EE - 320,293,618.85
Total current assets REEESE SYANPE TP R 51,779,682,257.76
Non-current assets ERBNEE
Long-term equity investments RHERERE 4 LY RS (VP XV 15,588,308,928.23
Investment in other equity instruments EiEZTAKRE 174,920,200.00 191,620,200.00
Other non-current financial assets HEMIEnemEE 48,744,000.00 48,744,000.00
Investment property RE M B E IRICEVIIII LI 1,098,873,377.18
Fixed assets BT &E 3,807,501,405.29 3,006,064,048.78
Construction in progress FETRE 2,106,098,201.17 2,277,083,525.08
Intangible assets BVEE 782,659,398.65 512,203,369.80
Goodwill e 341,073,643.76 341,073,643.76
Deferred tax assets BEFRBIRERE 1,402,747,652.41 910,637,045.17
Other non-current assets HIERsEE 2,806,676,762.50 2,484,556,774.12
Total non-current assets EREEESE ke evkt el 26,459,164,912.12

Total assets

BEAF

RN MY Ip kIl /8,238,847,169.88
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Company Balance Sheet (Continued) AR EEAMRR (M)
30 June 2020 20206 H30H
RMB
AR BT
[tem Note XV 30 June 2020 31 December 2019
El= MsE+ R B iR s =i 2019412 A31H
Current liabilities MEAE
Notes payable T EiR 11,174,765,588.81 13,815,739,112.99
Accounts payable e BR 3R RIS RE ] 12,497,803,183.14
Contract liabilities SRAE 4,956,861,730.34 2,571,680,421.94
Payroll payable JE ST B T 37 M 756,035,761.87 985,532,575.51
Taxes payable BB 864,670,692.83 155,032,778.30
Other payables o e 3R 3,195,977,400.67 2,147,054,763.30
Other current liabilities HEmnsas 1,915,025,169.16 1,674,274,867.54
Total current liabilities REHBES SRS EN VLN 33,847,117,702.72
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term payables REIER 6,860,643.94 5,513,797.98
Long term payroll payable 5 HA P A B T 53,634,317.34 24,734,049.15
Deferred income IR E W = 911,829,722.38 906,196,708.93
Total non-current liabilities ERBEESF 972,324,683.66 936,444,556.06
Total liabilities BERE EERTARLY RPN 34,783,562,258.78
Shareholders’ equity MR A
Share capital A% X 7,933,873,895.00 7,933,873,895.00
Capital reserve YN 695,679,231.81 695,679,231.81
Other comprehensive income Hipza s (162,522,149.65) (119,983,030.10)
Special reserve HIFFHE 106,276,983.42 94,899,845.80
Surplus reserve BHAE 3,607,357,154.34 3,607,357,154.34
Retained earnings 5 B A VR EENLNEM 31,243,457,814.25
Total shareholders’ equity REREREF Ry MRV 43,455,284,911.10

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity B EMB RS BT SRV CN L EWIM 73,238,847,169.88




Company Income Statement

1 January to 30 June 2020
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I 7R 2

2020F 1 H1HZ6A30H 15

Incurred during

RMB
AR T
Incurred in

previous period

EHIZARR

[tem Note XV this period
HHE MsE+h AHAR A
. Revenue — EERA 5 28,549,475,904.20
Less: Cost of sales o R 22,028,328,311.24
Taxes and surcharges & KMt 164,650,122.59
Distribution and selling expenses SHEEH 472,713,585.15
General and administrative expenses EIEEH 417,765,528.79
Research & development expenses s 1,016,381,743.73
Finance expenses B8R (168,515,258.61)
Incl: Interest expenses He o FEEA
Interest income B U A 173,754,591.04
Add: Other income s HAb e 84,267,920.62
Investment income & W 586,862,228.07
Incl: Investment income from Hep o HEEHE
associates and joint mae &gt
ventures ¥miRE
Was VOREERETR
Impairment loss of credit ERAREERK (72,494,053.03)
Impairment loss of assets BEMEEXLX (2,039,052.28)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets EERE
Wes, (18%) 2,162,165.20
Il.  Operating profit — EERE 5,216,911,079.89
Add: Non-operating income hn o B FEINEA 26,800,887.28
Less: Non-operating expenses o BEIINETH 1,279,984.31
lll. Total profit = MBeE 5,242,431,982.86
Less: Income tax expenses o TSR E A 600,449,881.46
IV. Net profit M SFFE 4,641,982,101.40
(I) Breakdown by continuity of operations (—) REEREES 1
1. Net profit from continuing 1. BFELEF
operations e 4,641,982,101.40
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax T ~H b4z & ST 12
TR EA (42,539,119.55)
(I) Those other comprehensive income notto  (—) TEEEDBEEZ
be reclassified into profit or loss HE iR S W
1. Change in fair value of investment 1. EfhE=TA
in other equity instruments KERAR
BEEE (42,539,119.55)
VI. Total comprehensive income N hRA W g 4,599,442,981.85

24,408,563,211.01
17,599,138,838.21
153,054,486.06
687,984,414.93
545,444,978.25
1,063,328,580.45
(110,962,502.64)

117,309,188.63
39,487,227.95
610,885,819.43

60,137,591.48
(34,505,077.42)
(5,423,751.68)

(3,500,499.47)

5,077,518,134.56
5,988,231.28
233,048.58

5,083,273,317.26
616,701,382.41

4,466,571,934.85

4,466,571,934.85

6,541,384.92

6,541,384.92

4,473,113,319.77
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity 2> Al i PROME # 58 H)) 3%

1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

202041 51HE6H30H 1F 5 (A E#T)

Incurred during this period
AHRLE
Other
Share Capital comprehensive Spedial Surplus Retained
Item Note V capital reserve income reserve reserve earnings Total equity
bt M k& LN EfGauE SRR EROR RAEAE REEHET
. Atbeginning of period - FEHNRE 7933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 (119,983,030.10) 9489984580 360735715434 3124345781425 4345528491110
Il Movements in current period o REEHEDLE
) Total comprehensive income () GauRsE (42,539,119.55) 4641982,10140  4,599,442,981.85
(I} Injection and reduction of (2) RERARFSER
share capital
(i) Profit appropriation (Z) FEAE
1. Distribution to shareholders 1. HRRHAE 48 (1,079,006,849.72)  (1,079,006,849.72)
(V) Spedl reserve (m) =Rk
1. Appropriation during the 1. KEER
period 15,234,619.62 15,234,619.62
2. Used during the period 2. T5ER (3,857,482.00) (3,857,482.00)
Il Atend of period = FEHRRE 7933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 (162,522,149.65) 10627698342 360735715434 3480643306593  46,987,098,180.85
Incurred in previous period
HREE
Other
Share Capital Less: comprefensive Special Surplus Retained
Item Note V capital Teserve Treasury shares income resenve reserve earnings Total equity
B WL e EIN HoERR  EbBANE 2ERR BHAE AORNE  RRESA
. Atbeginning of period - KHBN8E 7,997,238556.00  1,084,612,950.62 49991121721 (47,258,130.00) TA867.86457 281111572219 27,897980,48361  39,318,646,229.78
I Movements in curtent period Z FEgERESEE
) Total comprehensive income (=) GehssE - - - 6,541,38492 - - 44665719385 447311331977
(I Ijection and reduction (2) BREAMBOER
1. Acquistion of subsidiares by way of 1. RRAKTAR
absorption - 4761283740 - - - 60,250,045.79 133,120,628.25 240,983,511.44
2. Cancellation of treasury shares 2. HEEEERR
repurchased (63364661000 (436,546,556.21)  (499911,217.21) - - - - -
(i) Profit appropriation (2) MELR
1. Appropriaton to surpls resenve 1. ROBRLNE = = = = = = = =
2. Distrbution to shareholders 2. HERNAR 48 - - - - - - (2221,484,690,60)  (2,221,484,690.60)
(V) Specil resenve (m) =EREE
1. Apropriation during the period 1. RERR - - - - 1354580 - - 1321545580
2. Used during the period 2. KEER - - - - (3907,693.41) - - (3907,693.41)
I At end of period = FHNREE 7,933,873,895.00 695,679,231.81 = (40,716,745.08) 8417562696  2871365767.98  30.276,188,3%6.11  41,820,566,132.78




Company Cash Flow Statement

1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Item
1BH
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2020F1H1HZ6H30H 15 (A EET)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from sales of goods
or rendering of services
Refunds of taxes
Other cash received relating to operating activities

RERBHELN
Reng

HEMM  RHESH
BB S

W B M BRI

WE Bt B RS
BHENRE

Subtotal of cash inflows from operating activities

REFEHREMANG

Cash paid for goods and services

BREAm  BREH

THEORE
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees TREBIURS
BIXNWRE
Cash paid for all types of taxes TRMEERE
Other cash paid relating to operating activities S E A B R B
FHENRE
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating activities RETER ST Nat
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHEENRS
TEFE
Il CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHEEN
BREenE

Cash received from sale of investments
Cash received from return on investments

Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, intangible

assets and other long-term assets

Other cash received relating to investing activities

Y ml B U B R &

BERERE R
B

REBETEE B

BENMAMRHEERD

MR FR
W E b B E RS
BRNRE

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing activities

REBBHRASMANG

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, intangible assets

BRETEE B

and other long-term assets AEMHMRIEE

THERE

Cash paid for acquisition of investments RESZMHRE

Other cash paid relating to investing activities S EM KSR
EHENRE

Subtotal of cash outflows from investing activities BEZEHR LMD &t

Net cash flows from investing activities RETBDEENE S
e

Incurred during
this period
FHRER

21,427,765,023.50
4,358,780.04

298,405,420.11
21,730,529,223.65

20,666,914,413.27

1,027,043,884.25
1,539,148,213.68

807,402,722.45
24,040,509,233.65

(2,309,980,010.00)

275,575,906.91

1,986,400.00

277,562,306.91

1,375,331,490.56
412,518,858.22

322,119,988.38
2,109,970,337.16

(1,832,408,030.25)

Incurred in
previous period

LEBALR

21,137,451,128.56

532,788,731.62

21,670,239,860.18

17,428,443,912.89

1,046,134,778.25
2,013,438,002.68

521,051,494.84

21,009,068,188.66

661,171,671.52

876,585.00

644,004,020.43

8,653,514.00

241,783,376.18

895,317,495.61

988,932,508.43
395,890,181.29

1,384,822,689.72

(489,505,194.11)
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Company Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

AFBERER ()

2020F1H1HZ6H30H 1B (A EET)

Item
1BH
. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES = BEEHELEM
BeRE
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or AR~ M EA RS
profits and for interest expenses XHERe
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing activities BELBRS MM/
Net cash flows from financing activities EEEHELEM
REeEREFHE
IV.  EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE m- EXEgFHHRE R
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReEEINTE
V. NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND i BeRBReFEYF
CASH EQUIVALENTS (B4 )3
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at m:ETRe R
beginning of period ReSEYHE
VI.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT N BHERBEER
END OF PERIOD ReEEMHE

Incurred during
this period
FHRAER

38,762,115.42
38,762,115.42

(38,762,115.42)

101,358.76

(4,181,048,796.91)

26,404,688,200.32

22,223,639,403.41

Incurred in
previous period

ik g

(27,322.50)

171,639,154.91

19,074,554,698.78

19,246,193,853.69




Notes to Financial Statements

1 January to 30 June 2020

L.

Corporate Background
Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock company limited

by shares incorporated in Weifang, Shandong on 23 December 2002.

The RMB ordinary A shares and overseas listed foreign H shares issued by
the Company were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, respectively. The registered address of
the Company’s headquarters is 197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street, High
Technology Industrial Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province.
The Company operates in the transportation equipment manufacturing
industry. The major scope of operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) covers: design, development, production, sale,
repair, import and export of engines and auxiliary products, automobile,
automobile axle and components, gear boxes and components and other
automobile components, hydraulic pumps, hydraulic motors, hydraulic
valves, gears and gear transmission devices, ancillary casting and casting
products of hydraulic components, internal combustion engines, new
energy powertrain systems and ancillary products; technical consultation
and technical services; leasing of self-owned houses; sale of steel; business
management service; forklift trucks production, warehousing technology
and supply chain solution services. For the aforesaid scope of operation,
operating permit(s) should be held for those operations requiring

administrative permission.

Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Co., Ltd., established in the PRC, are the parent company and ultimate

holding company of the Group respectively.

These company and consolidated interim financial statements of the
Company were approved by the board of directors of the Company on 27
August 2020.

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is determined

on the basis of control. Please refer to Note VI for changes this period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

II. Preparation basis of the financial statements . ~Bf % #t 3% 0Y 57 R L i

Preparation basis

These interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises — No. 32 Interim Financial
Reporting issued by the Ministry of Finance (the “MOF”). In addition,
the Group also disclosed relevant financial information in accordance
with relevant disclosure requirements of Compilation Rules No. 15 for
Information Disclosure by Companies Offering Securities to the Public —
General Requirements for Financial Reporting (2014 Revision) and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited.

These interim financial statements include selected explanatory notes,
which are provided for easy understanding of the Group's important
events and transactions leading to its financial position and change of
results of operations since the financial statements for the year 2019.
These selected notes do not include all information and disclosures
required under the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises for a
full set of financial statements. As such, these statements shall be read in

conjunction with the financial statements of the Group for the year 2019.

Continuing operations

The interim financial statements are presented on a going concern basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

II.

Preparation basis of the financial statements
(Continued)

Basis of book-keeping and principle of
measurement

The Group adopts the accrual basis as the basis of book-keeping in
accounting. Other than certain financial instruments, these financial
statements have been prepared at historical costs. A disposal group held-
for-sale is carried at the lower of carrying amount or the net value of
fair value less selling expenses. If the assets are impaired, corresponding

provisions for impairment shall be made according to relevant provisions.

Under historical cost method, the amount of assets was measured at the
fair value of cash or cash equivalents or consideration paid at the time
of purchase. Liabilities were measured at the amount of money or assets
due to the current obligations actually received, or a present obligation
of the contract amount, or the measurement of cash or cash equivalents
in accordance with daily activities to repay the liabilities of the amount

expected to be paid.

The fair value refers to the amount, at which both willing parties engaged
to an orderly transaction who are familiar with the condition sell their
assets or transfer their liabilities. Whether the fair value is observable or
measured by valuation techniques, the measurement and disclosure of the

fair value in these financial statements were all based on it.

For financial assets with transaction prices as the fair value upon initial
recognition and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equals to the

transaction price.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

II.

I1I.

Preparation basis of the financial statements
(Continued)

Basis of book-keeping and principle of
measurement (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorized into three levels based on the
degree to which the inputs of the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date.

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates

Accounting policies and accounting estimates are formulated based on
the actual characteristics of production and operation. These are reflected
in the identification of leases, provision for credit losses in respect of
receivables, classification of fixed assets and depreciation estimation,
classification of intangible assets and long-term pre-paid expenses and
estimation of amortization.

1. Accounting period
The accounting year of the Group is from 1 January to 31 December
of each calendar year. The accounting period for these interim
financial statements is from 1 January to 30 June.

2. Business cycle
Business cycle refers to the period from the purchase of assets used
for processing to the realization of cash and cash equivalents. The
business cycle of the Group is twelve months.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

3.

Functional currency

Renminbi (RMB) was the currency used in the major economic
environment in which the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
operate the business. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries
used RMB as their functional currencies. The Company’s overseas
subsidiaries may determine their own functional currencies based on
the currency used in the major economic environment in which they
operate the business. In preparation of these financial statements,

the Company adopted RMB as the functional currency.

The accounting treatment of business
combinations involving enterprises under
common control and business combinations
involving enterprises not under common
control

Business combinations include business combinations involving
enterprises under common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common control.

4.1 Business combinations involving enterprises under
common control
A business combination involving enterprises under common
control is a business combination in which all of the
combining enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same
party or parties both before and after the combination, and

that control is not transitory.

Assets and liabilities that are obtained in a business
combination shall be measured at the carrying amounts on
the financial statements of the acquiree as at the combination
date. The difference between the carrying amount of the net
assets obtained by the acquirer and the carrying amount of
the consideration paid for the combination (or the aggregate
face value of shares issued as consideration) shall be adjusted
to share premium under capital reserve. If the capital reserve
is not sufficient to absorb the difference, any excess shall be

adjusted against retained earnings.

Costs that are directly attributable to the combination are

charged to profit or loss when incurred.
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HRBORHAERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

4.

The accounting treatment of business
combinations involving enterprises under
common control and business combinations
involving enterprises not under common
control (Continued)

4.2 Business combinations involving enterprises not

under common control and goodwill

A business combination involving enterprises not under
common control is a business combination in which all of the
combining enterprises are not ultimately controlled by the

same party or parties before and after the combination.

Combination cost refers to the fair value of assets paid,
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued
by the acquirer for acquiring control of the acquiree. For
business combinations of enterprises not under common
control achieved in stages through multiple transactions, the
combination cost shall be the sum of the consideration paid
on the date of acquisition and the fair value, as at the date of
acquisition, of the equity interests in the acquiree held prior

to the date of acquisition.

The fees paid to intermediaries including audit, legal services,
appraisal and so forth and other related administrative
expenses incurred by the acquirer for the business
combination are charged to profit or loss for the current

period when incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

4.

The accounting treatment of business

combinations involving enterprises under

common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common

control (Continued)

4.2 Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill (Continued)
The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
acquiree qualifying for the conditions of recognition acquired
by the acquirer in the business combination are measured
at fair value on the date of acquisition. When the business
combination contract provides that, upon the occurrence of
multiple future contingencies, the acquirer shall require the
return of consideration paid for the business combination,
such contingent consideration as set out in the contract
shall be recognised as an asset by the Group as a part of
the aggregate consideration transferred in the business
combination, and be included in the cost of combination
at the fair value at the date of acquisition. Within twelve
months after the acquisition, if the contingent consideration
needs to be adjusted as new or further evidences are
obtained in respect of circumstances existed as of the
date of acquisition, the amount previously included in the
goodwill shall be adjusted. A change in or adjustment to the
contingent consideration under other circumstances shall
be measured in accordance with Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 22 — Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Instruments and Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies. Any change or

adjustment is included in profit or loss for the current period.
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HRBORHAERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

4.

The accounting treatment of business
combinations involving enterprises under
common control and business combinations
involving enterprises not under common
control (Continued)

4.2 Business combinations involving enterprises not

under common control and goodwill (Continued)

Where the combination cost is larger than the portion of
fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired
in the business combination, the difference is recognized
as goodwill as an asset, and initially measured at cost. For
those with combination cost lower than the portion of fair
value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired in the
business combination, re-verification is first carried out on
the measurement of the fair value of all identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities as well as the combination
cost. For those with combination cost lower than the portion
of fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired
in the business combination after re-verification, they are

charged to profit or loss for the current period.

If either the fair values of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired in a combination or the cost of
business combination can be determined only provisionally
by the end of the period in which the business combination
was effected, the acquirer recognizes and measures the
combination using those provisional values. Any adjustments
to those provisional values within 12 months after the
acquisition date are treated as if they had been recognized

and measured on the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising from the business combination shall be
recognized separately in the consolidated financial statements

and measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

5.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Control refers to the power of
an investor over an investee, and exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.
Once the relevant facts and situation which alters the elements that

define control change, the Group shall perform re-evaluation.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control

of the subsidiary.

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination not
involving enterprises under common control, the operating results
and cash flows from the date of acquisition (the date when the
control is obtained) are included in the consolidated income

statement and consolidated cash flow statement, as appropriate.

No matter when the business combination occurs in the reporting
period, subsidiaries acquired through a business combination
involving enterprises under common control or the party being
absorbed under merger by absorption are included in the Group's
scope of consolidation as if they had been included in the scope
of consolidation from the date when they first came under the
common control of the ultimate controlling party. Their operating
results and cash flows from the beginning of the earliest reporting
period or from the date when they first came under the common
control of the ultimate controlling party are included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow

statement, as appropriate.

The significant accounting policies and accounting periods adopted
by the subsidiaries are determined based on the uniform accounting

policies and accounting periods set out by the Company.

The effect of all intra-group transactions between the Company and
its subsidiaries and among subsidiaries on the consolidated financial

statements is eliminated on consolidation.
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48 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. S8 HIRHBERA T

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

5.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The portion of subsidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the
Company is treated as minority interests and presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated balance sheet within shareholders’
equity. The portion of net profits or losses of subsidiaries
attributable to minority interests is presented as “minority interests”
in the consolidated income statement below the “net profit” line

item.

Where the amount of losses of a subsidiary attributable to the
minority shareholders exceeds their share of the opening balance
of owner’s equity of the subsidiary, the excess shall be allocated

against minority interests.

Acquisition of minority interests or disposal of interest in a
subsidiary that does not result in the loss of control over the
subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction. The carrying
amounts of the interests attributable to the parent and minority
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. The difference between the amount by
which the minority interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is adjusted to capital reserve. If the
capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the excess is

adjusted against retained earnings.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

6.

Classification of joint arrangements and
accounting treatments for joint operations
Joint arrangements include joint operations and joint ventures. The
classification is determined by considering the structure, legal form
and contract terms of the arrangement according to the rights
and obligations of the joint parties in the joint arrangements. A
joint operation refers to the arrangement whereby the parties have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties only have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The Group adopts equity method for computing the investments
in joint ventures. For details, see Note Ill. 13.3.2 Long-term equity
investment calculated by equity method

The following items should be recognized by the Group in relation
to its sole and shared ownerships in the joint operation: solely held
assets, as well as jointly held assets according to its share; solely
assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed liabilities according to
its share; income derived from its entitled share of production of
the joint operation; income derived from the sales of production of
the joint operation according to its share; solely incurred expenses,
as well as expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its
share. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the joint
operation are computed according to requirements applicable to
specific assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

If the Group invests or sells assets, etc. to the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognized only before the assets are sold
to a third party by the joint operation. Where asset impairment
losses are incurred in respect of assets invested or sold, the Group
recognizes the losses in full amount.

If the Group purchases assets, etc. from the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognized only before the assets are sold to
a third party. Where asset impairment losses are incurred in respect
of assets purchased, the Group recognizes the losses to the extent
of its share.
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50  Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHAERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Recognition criteria for cash and cash

equivalents

Cash comprises the Group’s cash on hand and deposits that can

7.

be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents are short-term

(usually mature within 3 months from the date of acquisition),

highly liquid investments held by the Group, that are readily

convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value.

Foreign currency operations and foreign
currency translation

8.1

Foreign currency operations

Foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial
recognition, in the functional currency, by applying to the
foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate prevailing
on the transaction dates. On the balance sheet date, foreign
currency monetary items are translated into Renminbi using
the spot exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising from the difference between
the spot exchange rate on that day and on the date of initial
recognition or the previous balance sheet date are taken to
profit or loss in the current period except for the following:
(1) The exchange difference in respect of special borrowings
denominated in foreign currencies that meet the criteria for
capitalization are capitalized during the capitalization period as
a cost under the relevant assets; (2) The exchange difference
in respect of hedging instruments used for hedging for
avoiding foreign exchange rate risks is accounted for using
hedge accounting; (3) For monetary items classified as at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI),
exchange difference arising from the change in other gross
carrying amounts other than amortized costs is taken to other
comprehensive income.

Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at historical
cost shall still be measured at the amount in the functional
currency translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing on
the transaction date. Non-monetary foreign currency items
measured at fair value are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the date on which the fair values are
determined. The difference between the amount in the
functional currency after translation and the amount in the
original functional currency is accounted for as fair value
change (inclusive of exchange rate change) and is taken to
profit or loss for the current period or recognized as other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 4 5t

Accounting Estimates (Continued) (74)
8. Foreign currency operations and foreign 8. HMEKBMIIMBFERITE
currency translation (Continued) (&)

8.2 INEMIEHRRITE

8.2 Translation of foreign currency financial statements

To prepare the consolidated financial statement, the financial
statements denominated in foreign currency of a foreign
operation are translated to RMB in compliance with the
following requirements: all assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet are translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing
at the balance sheet date; all equity items are translated at
the spot exchange rates at the dates on which such items
arose; income and expenses and profit appropriation items
in the income statement are translated at the spot exchange
rate at the date of transaction; all exchange differences of
assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity resulting from the
translation are recognized as other comprehensive income

and taken to shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency cash flows and the cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the spot exchange rate
as of the date on which the cash flows occur. The effect
of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is
presented separately as an adjustment item under “effect of
changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents” in

the cash flow statement.

The opening balances of the year/period and prior
year's/period’s figures are presented according to the translated

amounts of the financial statements of the prior year/period.

When control over the Group’s foreign operation is lost
due to the disposal of ownership interests of foreign
operation or partial disposal of equity investment or
other reasons, exchange differences of foreign currency
statements attributable to the shareholders of the parent
company related to such foreign operation and presented
under shareholder’s equity item in the balance sheet are all

transferred to profit or loss for the current period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

8.

g

Foreign currency operations and foreign

currency translation (Continued)

8.2 Translation of foreign currency financial statements
(Continued)
In partial disposal of the equity investment or other reasons
that lead to the reduction of the proportion of interests
in foreign operation but there is no loss of control over
such foreign operations, the difference of foreign currency
translation related to the part of foreign operation disposal
will be attributed to minority interests and will not be taken
to profit or loss for the current period. In partial disposal of
equity interest in an overseas associate or joint venture, the
foreign currency translation difference related to the foreign
operation shall be taken to profit or loss for the current
period according to the proportion of the disposal of the

foreign operation.

Financial instruments
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial

instrument.

Where financial assets are purchased or sold in a regular way, assets
to be received and liabilities to be borne for it are recognized on the
date of transaction, or sold assets are derecognized on the date of

transaction.

The financial assets and financial liabilities were initially recognized
at fair value. For the financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for the current
period, related transaction expenses are directly taken to the profit
or loss for the current period; for other types of financial assets
and financial liabilities, related transaction expenses are included
in the initial recognized amount. For accounts receivable excluding
significant financing components or regardless of financing
components of contracts less than one year initially recognised
based on Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No.14-
Revenue (“Standard on Revenue”), they are initially measured at

transaction price defined based on the Standard on Revenue.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

9.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method is the method that is used in the
calculation of the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and in the allocation and recognition of the interest income

or interest expense over the accounting periods.

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or to the amortized cost of a financial liability. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Group shall estimate the expected
cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial
assets or liabilities (for example, early repayment, extension, call and

similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses.

Amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount
at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount

and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.1

Classification and measurement of financial assets
After initial recognition, the Group shall measure different
types of financial assets at amortized cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL.

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows, the
Group shall classify the financial asset into a financial asset
measured at amortized cost. Such financial assets mainly
include: cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable, accounts
receivable, other receivables and long-term receivables, etc.

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell such
financial assets, the Group shall classify the financial asset
into a financial asset at FVTOCI. Such financial assets primarily
include receivable financing.

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets classified
as at FVTPL and those designated as at FVTPL which are
presented in held-for-trading financial assets. Those due over
one year and expected to be held for over one year since
the balance sheet date are presented in other non-current
financial assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset which does not satisfy the criteria
for a financial asset classified as being measured at
amortized cost or a financial asset at FVTOCI shall be
classified as a financial asset at FVTPL.

At initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting
mismatch (expected credit losses).

On initial recognition, the Group may, based on a individual
financial asset, irrevocably designate a non-trading equity

instrument investment which is non-contingent consideration
and recognized in business combination not involving
enterprises under common control as financial asset
measured at FVTOCI. Such financial assets are presented as
investment in other equity instruments.

The Group’s purpose of holding the financial assets is for
trading if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

The Group'’s purpose of holding the relevant financial
assets is primarily for recent sale.

The relevant financial assets are, on initial recognition,
a part of the centrally-managed identifiable financial
instrument portfolio, and objective evidence indicates
that short-term profit model exists in the near future.

The relevant financial assets are derivative instruments.
However, derivatives that meet the definition of
financial guarantee contracts and those designated as
effective hedging instruments are excluded.
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56  Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHAERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

9.1.1

Financial assets at amortised cost

The financial asset at amortized cost is subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. Gain or loss arising from derecognition,
impairment or amortization is recognized in profit or

loss.

The Group recognizes interest income on financial
assets measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. The Group calculates interest income
based on the gross carrying amount of financial
assets multiplied by the actual interest rate, unless the
financial assets become credit-impaired financial assets
in subsequent reporting period. For those financial
assets, the Group shall apply the credit-adjusted
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the
financial asset in subsequent reporting period. If the
financial assets no longer has credit impairment during
the subsequent period as a result of an improvement
in its credit risk, and this improvement may be linked
to an event that occurred after the application of the
above regulations, the Group calculates interest income
based on the gross carrying amount of financial assets

multiplied by the actual interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t

Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. WM TIA(E)
9.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets 9.1 TREEMNHDEHGE
(Continued) (%)

9.1.2 Financial assets classified as at FVTOC! 912 U AR EEFTEARE

Impairment gains or losses on a financial asset classified
as at FVTOCI and the interest income calculated using
the effective interest method and exchange gains and
losses shall be recognized in profit or loss. Except for
them, changes in fair value of such financial assets shall
be recognized in other comprehensive income. The
amount of such financial asset recognized in profit or
loss of each period is equal to the amount deemed as
measured at amortized cost all the time and recognized
in profit or loss of each period. When the financial
asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in other comprehensive income is
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit

or loss.
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58  Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHAERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

9. Financia

| instruments (Continued)

9.1 C(lassification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

9.1.2

9.1.3

Financial assets classified as at FVTOC! (Continued)

After designating a non-trading equity instrument
investment as a financial asset at FVTOCI, the changes
in fair value of such financial assets are recognized
in other comprehensive income. When the financial
asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in other comprehensive income
are transferred from other comprehensive income to
retained earnings. During the period that the Group
holds these non-trading equity instrument investments,
the Group has established the right of collecting
dividends, whose economic benefit will probably flow
into the Group, and the amount of the dividends can
be reliably measured, then the Group will recognize

dividend income in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL shall be subsequently
measured at fair value. Gains or losses from change in
fair value and dividends and interest income related
to such financial assets shall be recognized in profit or

loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.2

Impairment of financial instruments and other items
The Group shall recognise a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on financial assets at amortized cost, financial
assets classified as FVTOCI, a lease receivable, contract assets
and financial guarantee contracts that are not designated as
financial liabilities at FVTPL.

The Group makes a loss allowance against amount of lifetime
expected credit losses of the receivables and contract assets
arising from transactions adopting Standard on Revenue
and the lease receivables arising from transactions adopting
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 21 —

Leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

9.2

Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

For other financial instruments, at the balance sheet date,
the Group assesses changes in credit risk of relevant financial
instruments since initial recognition. If the credit risk of the
above financial instruments has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures loss allowance based
on the amount of lifetime expected credit losses; if credit risk
of the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group recognises loss allowance
based on 12-month expected credit losses of the financial
instrument. Increase in or reversal of credit loss allowance is
included in profit or loss as loss/gain on impairment. Except
financial assets classified as at FVTOCI, allowance for credit
losses decreases the carrying amount of the financial assets.
For financial assets at FVTOCI, the Group recognises credit
loss allowance in other comprehensive income and does not
decrease the carrying amount of such financial assets in the

balance sheet.

The Group measures loss allowance at the full lifetime
expected credit losses of the financial instruments in the
previous accounting period. However, at the balance sheet
date, for the above financial instruments, if significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition no longer
applies, the Group measures loss allowance for the financial
instrument at 12-month expected credit losses at the balance
sheet date for the current period. Relevant reversal of loss
allowance is included in profit or loss for the current period as

gain on impairment.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. &R IA(HE)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items 92 @MIAKHMIERRE
(Continued) (%)

M=

9.2.1 Significant increases in credit risk 9.2.1 IR B EZE LM

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk
of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since the initial recognition at each balance
sheet date. While determining whether the credit risk
has significantly increased since initial recognition,
the Group takes into account the reasonable and
substantiated information that is accessible without
exerting unnecessary cost or effort, including qualitative
and quantitative analysis based on the historical data
of the Group, external credit risk rating, and forward-
looking information. Based on the single financial
instrument or the combination of financial instruments
with similar characteristics of credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of default of financial instruments
on the balance sheet date with that on the initial
recognition date in order to figure out the changes
of default risk in the expected lifetime of financial
instruments. For financial guarantee contracts, the
date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition in the application of criteria related to the

financial instrument for impairment.
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62 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHAERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

9. Financia
9.2 Impa

| instruments (Continued)
irment of financial instruments and other items

(Continued)

9.2.1

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk

When triggering one or more of the following
guantitative and qualitative criteria, the Group believes
that the credit risk of financial instruments has

increased significantly:

o Quantitative criteria are primarily that the
probability of default of the remaining duration
of the reporting date rises by more than a certain

proportion compared with the initial recognition

o Qualitative criteria primarily include major
adverse changes in the debtor’s business or
financial position, the debtor’s internal credit
rating is actually lowered or is expected to be

lowered, etc.

At the balance date, the Group assumes that credit
risk of the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the Group
determines that the financial instrument is only exposed
to lower credit risk. If the risk of default of a financial
instrument is low, the borrower is highly capable of
meeting its contract cash flow obligations in the short
term, and the financial instrument is considered to have
a lower credit risk even if there is an adverse change
in the economic situation and operating environment
over a longer period of time, but it may not necessarily
reduce the borrower’s performance of its contract cash

obligations.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

9.2.2 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include

observable data about the following events:

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
debtor;

A breach of contract by the debtor, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

The creditor, for economic or contracted reasons
relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty,
granting to the debtor a concession which
will not otherwise be granted in any other

circumstances;

[t becoming probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganizations;

The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties of

the issuer or the debtor.
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64  \Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHAERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

9.2.3

Recognition of expected credit losses

The Group assesses the expected credit losses of
financial instruments based on individual and group
basis. The Group recognises the credit loss on
receivables, lease receivables, contract assets, etc., of
significant amount and insignificant amount but with
special credit risk on an individual asset basis, and
otherwise recognises credit loss of relevant financial
instruments on a group basis. The Group considers
the credit risk characteristics of different customers
and evaluates the expected credit losses of accounts
receivable on the basis of groupings by age, by quality
of credit history and by overdue age. The Group
considers various credit risk characteristics including
instrument type, credit risk ratings, collateral type,
date of initial recognition, remaining term to maturity,
industry, geographical location of the debtor and the

value of collateral relative to the financial asset, etc.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

9.2.3 Recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)

The Group determines expected credit losses of
relevant financial instruments using the following

methods:

o For financial assets, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group

expects to receive.

o For lease receivables, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group

expects to receive.

o For a financial guarantee contract, credit loss
is the present value of difference between the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the

debtor or any other party.
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HRBORHAERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

9. Financia

| instruments (Continued)

9.2 Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

9.2.3

9.2.4

Recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)

o For credit-impaired financial assets at the balance
sheet date, credit loss is the difference between
the gross carrying amount of financial assets and
the present value of expected future cash flows

discounted at original effective interest rate.

The Group’s measurement of expected credit losses of
financial instruments reflects factors including unbiased
probability weighted average amount recognised by
assessing a series of possible results, time value of
money, reasonable and supportable information related
to historical events, current condition and forecast
of future economic position that is available without

undue cost or effort at the balance sheet date.

Write-off of financial assets

The Group shall directly reduce the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition of the relevant financial

asset.
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III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. €M T A(E)
9.3 Transfer of financial assets 93 THEENHEE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
1 January to 30 June 2020

J

The Group shall derecognise a financial asset when one of
the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, (2)
the financial asset has been transferred and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset is
transferred to the transferee; or (3) although the financial asset
has been transferred, the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset but has not retained control of the financial

asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset, and it
retains control of the financial asset, the Group will recognize
the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement
in the transferred financial asset and recognize an associated
liability. Relevant liabilities are measured using the following

methods:

° If the transferred financial asset is measured at
amortized cost, the carrying amount of relevant
liabilities is the carrying amount of continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset less the
amortized cost of the rights retained by the Group (if
the Group retains rights for the transfer of the financial
asset) plus the amortized cost of the obligations
undertaken by the Group (if the Group undertakes
relevant obligations for the transfer of the financial
asset), and the relevant liabilities are not designated as
financial liabilities at FVTPL.
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